# The off-shell expansion relation of the Yang-Mills scalar theory

## Yi-Xiao Tao<sup>a</sup> Konglong Wu<sup>b,c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Yau Mathematical Sciences Center (YMSC), Tsinghua University, Beijing 100084, China

- <sup>b</sup>Deutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY, Notkestr. 85, 22607 Hamburg, Germany
- <sup>c</sup>School of Physics and Technology, Wuhan University, No.299 Bayi Road, Wuhan 430072, China

*E-mail:* taoyx21@mails.tsinghua.edu.cn, konglong.wu@desy.de

ABSTRACT: In this work, we investigate the off-shell expansion relation of the Yang-Mills scalar theory. We have shown explicitly that the single-trace Berends-Giele currents in the Yang-Mills scalar theory can be decomposed into a term expressed by a linear combination of bi-adjoint scalar Berends-Giele currents and one that vanishes under the on-shell limit. We proved that the bi-adjoint scalar currents, as well as the corresponding coefficients, can be characterized by a graphic approach that was originally studied in Einstein-Yang-Mills expansion. Furthermore, we generalized the decomposition to the multi-trace case through unifying relations and established the connection both in single-trace and multi-trace graphic descriptions. Finally, we established the relations between the Yang-Mills currents and the single-trace Yang-Mills scalar currents by choosing special reference orders of the Yang-Mills graphs.

## Contents

	-
Preliminaries	2
2.1 BG recursion in BS	2
2.2 BG current in YMS	3
2.3 Graphic rules in YMS theory	4
2.4 Unifying relations	6
The off-shell expansion relation of the single-trace YMS currents	7
3.1 Decomposition of the single-trace YMS current	8
3.2 Proof of eq. $(3.14)$	11
The off-shell Expansion of double-trace BG currents	13
The expansion of BG currents in the YMS theory	13
5.1 Unifying relations for YMS effective currents	13
5.1.1 Double trace	13
5.1.2 Multi-trace	16
5.2 Unifying relations for off-shell terms	16
Further study: from YM to single-trace YMS	18
6.1 From YM expansion to single-trace YMS expansion: special reference orders	18
6.2 From YM off-shell terms to single-trace YMS off-shell terms	18
6.3 Example: two/three-point BG currents	19
6.3.1 Two-point BG current in YMS	19
6.3.2 Three-point BG current in YMS	19
Conclusions	20
Review on the decomposition of BG current in YM	21
	<ul> <li>Preliminaries</li> <li>2.1 BG recursion in BS</li> <li>2.2 BG current in YMS</li> <li>2.3 Graphic rules in YMS theory</li> <li>2.4 Unifying relations</li> <li>The off-shell expansion relation of the single-trace YMS currents</li> <li>3.1 Decomposition of the single-trace YMS current</li> <li>3.2 Proof of eq. (3.14)</li> <li>The off-shell Expansion of double-trace BG currents</li> <li>The expansion of BG currents in the YMS theory</li> <li>5.1 Unifying relations for YMS effective currents</li> <li>5.1.1 Double trace</li> <li>5.1.2 Multi-trace</li> <li>5.2 Unifying relations for off-shell terms</li> <li>Further study: from YM to single-trace YMS</li> <li>6.1 From YM expansion to single-trace YMS expansion: special reference orders</li> <li>6.3.1 Two-point BG currents</li> <li>6.3.2 Three-point BG currents</li> <li>6.3.1 Two-point BG current in YMS</li> <li>6.3.2 Three-point BG current in YMS</li> <li>Conclusions</li> </ul>

# 1 Introduction

As the leading order of the scattering amplitude, the structures of the tree-level amplitudes in diverse theories play important roles in the modern amplitude theory. Meanwhile, the relations between the tree-level amplitudes of different theories have also attracted a lot of attention, e.g. the expansion relations which will be mainly discussed later. The expansion relations of tree amplitudes construct an amazing web of different theories [1–5]. For example, one can expand gravity tree amplitudes as a combination of Einstein-Yang-Mills (EYM) tree amplitudes or pure Yang-Mills (YM) amplitudes. An analog of the expansion of gravity theory is the expansion of pure YM amplitudes to the Yang-Mills scalar (YMS) amplitudes or bi-adjoint scalar (BS) amplitudes, which will be mainly studied in this paper.

Expansion relations have developed very well recently. The expansion relations can be understood by the Cachazo-He-Yuan (CHY) formalism considering the relations between the CHY integrands [3, 5-10]. We can also use different bases to express the expansion relations so that the expansion coefficients can be given by some graphic rules [11-13], which will also give the Bern-Carrasco-Johannson (BCJ) numerators [14, 15]. However, unlike the elegant results for amplitudes, an off-shell view of the expansion relations is still unknown. The off-shell expansion relation is a Feynman-rule version of the amplitude expansion relation, and it will help to construct the expansion relation for loop integrands. To fill this gap, we start with the simplest off-shell object: Berends-Giele (BG) current [16]. The definition of an *n*-pt BG current is an (n+1)-pt tree amplitude with one leg off-shell, which allows us to construct BG currents recursively by "gluing" vertices and the off-shell legs of some subcurrents and is easy to be generalized [17-21]. Obviously, the recursion of BG currents is equivalent to the recursion of tree amplitudes. Moreover, the existence of the recursion allows us to prove relations about BG currents by induction. Pioneering work for the expansion relation of BG currents of YM theory can be seen in [22]. In that work, the authors also generalized the graphic rules (we will explain this concept later) for on-shell tree amplitudes to the BG currents. However, there are still some questions remaining. The most urgent one is the expansion relation for the YMS tree amplitudes with any number of scalar traces. In this paper, we have solved this question using some differential operators [23] and the same method in [22]. We will also show how to emergent multi-trace YMS graphic rules from the single-trace ones. Moreover, we have studied how to obtain single-trace YMS results from the YM results.

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we will review some concepts, including graphic rules, BG currents, and unifying relations. In Section 3, we consider the single-trace currents and prove the expansion relation for these currents by induction, using the method in [22]. In Section 5, we will show how to obtain the expansion relation of the multi-trace YMS currents from the single-trace YMS currents through the unifying relations. In this process, the emergence of the multi-trace YMS graphic rules from the single-trace ones will be done. In Section 6, we will demonstrate how to obtain the single-trace YMS expansion relations from the YM results. Although we failed to emergent the single-trace YMS graphic rules from the YM ones, we still figured out the connection between the single-trace YMS and the YM results by choosing some special reference orders.

## 2 Preliminaries

In this section, we will make a brief review on basic concepts, including BG currents in BS and YMS, the graphic rules in YMS theory, as well as unifying relations.

#### 2.1 BG recursion in BS

The BG current  $\phi(1, ..., n-1 | \sigma_1, ..., \sigma_{n-1})$  in BS theory is defined by [24]

$$\phi(1,...,n-1|\sigma_1,...,\sigma_{n-1}) = \frac{2}{s_{1...n-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \left[ \phi(1,...,i|\sigma_1,...,\sigma_i) \phi(i+1,...,n-1|\sigma_{i+1},...,\sigma_{n-1}) - \phi(1,...,i|\sigma_{n-i},...,\sigma_{n-1}) \phi(i+1,...,n-1|\sigma_1,...,\sigma_{n-i}) \right] (2.1)$$

Here  $\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \{\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_{n-1}\}$  denotes a permutation of external lines 1, ..., n-1. When  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$  involves only one element, the recursion is defined as

$$\phi(l|l') = \begin{cases} 1 \ (l'=l) \\ 0 \ (l'\neq l) \end{cases} .$$
(2.2)

It is clear from (2.1) that the BS current  $\phi(a_1, ..., a_i | b_1, ..., b_i)$  will vanish when  $\{a_1, ..., a_i\} \setminus \{b_1, ..., b_i\} \neq \emptyset$ . The on-shell BS amplitude  $A(1, ..., n | \sigma_1, ..., \sigma_n)$  is then obtained by taking the following limit

$$A(1,2,...,n|\sigma_1,...,\sigma_n) = \left[s_{1...n-1}\phi(1,2,...,n-1|\sigma_1,...,\sigma_{n-1})\right]\Big|_{s_{1...n-1}=k_n^2=0}.$$
(2.3)

Here, we present three relations of the BS current (2.1) that will be used in subsequent discussions:

• Reflection relation

$$\phi(1,...,n-1|\sigma_1,...,\sigma_{n-1}) = (-1)^n \phi(1,...,n-1|\sigma_{n-1},...,\sigma_1).$$
(2.4)

• Kleiss-Kuijf (KK) relation [25]

$$\phi(1,2,...,n-1|\boldsymbol{\beta},1,\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \sum_{\sqcup} (-1)^{|\boldsymbol{\beta}|} \phi(1,2,...,n-1|1,\boldsymbol{\alpha} \sqcup \boldsymbol{\beta}^T).$$
(2.5)

• Two generalized KK relations

$$\sum_{\boldsymbol{\mu}} \phi(1, 2, \dots, n-1 | \boldsymbol{\alpha} \sqcup \boldsymbol{\beta}) = 0, \qquad (2.6)$$

$$\sum_{\boldsymbol{\square}} \phi(1, 2, ..., n-1 | \boldsymbol{\beta} \sqcup \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{T}, 1, \boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\square}} (-1)^{|\boldsymbol{\gamma}|} \phi(1, 2, ..., n-1 | \boldsymbol{\beta}, 1, \boldsymbol{\alpha} \sqcup \boldsymbol{\gamma}).$$
(2.7)

In the equations above,  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ ,  $\boldsymbol{\beta}$  and  $\boldsymbol{\gamma}$  denote ordered sets. The notation  $|\boldsymbol{\beta}|$ ,  $|\boldsymbol{\gamma}|$  indicates the number of elements in  $\boldsymbol{\beta}$  and  $\boldsymbol{\gamma}$ , respectively, while  $\boldsymbol{\beta}^T$  represents the inverse permutation of  $\boldsymbol{\beta}$ . The shuffling permutations  $\boldsymbol{A} \sqcup \boldsymbol{B}$  of two ordered sets  $\boldsymbol{A}$  and  $\boldsymbol{B}$  are defined as all permutations resulting from merging  $\boldsymbol{A}$  and  $\boldsymbol{B}$  while preserving the relative order of elements in each set. The reflection relation (2.4) is a special case of the KK relation (2.5) when  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{\emptyset}$ . The relation (2.6) is derived from the KK relation (as noted in [26]), and the relation (2.7) can be directly proven by the KK relation (2.5). For the YMS theory, the (color-ordered) BG currents can also be constructed similarly. In this paper, we adopt the natural number order for the color labels involving both gluons and scalars. Consequently, we will omit the label of this color order and focus on the other color order that involves only scalars.

#### 2.2 BG current in YMS

The Lagrangian of YMS theory has the following expression [27],

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm YMS} = -\frac{1}{4} F^a_{\mu\nu} F^{a\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} (D_\mu \phi^A)^a (D^\mu \phi^A)^a - \frac{g^2}{4} f^{abe} f^{ecd} \phi^{Aa} \phi^{Bb} \phi^{Ac} \phi^{Bd} + \frac{g\lambda}{3!} F^{ABC} f^{abc} \phi^{Aa} \phi^{Bb} \phi^{Cc}.$$
(2.8)

It includes the gluon field strength  $F^a_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu A^a_\nu - \partial_\nu A^a_\mu + g f^{abc} A^b_\mu A^c_\nu$ , the covariant derivative  $D_\mu \phi^{Aa} = \partial_\mu \phi^{Aa} + g f^{abc} A^b_\mu \phi^{Ac}$ , and a scalar field  $\phi^{Aa}$  that is charged under two gauge groups whose structure constants are  $iF^{ABC}$  and  $if^{abc}$  respectively. The couplings of these two gauge groups are  $\lambda$  and g. Here we will choose g = 1 and  $\lambda = 2$  for convenience.

The YMS BG current  $J_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}|\mathbf{2}|\cdots|\mathbf{m};\mathbf{G})$  can be calculated by the perturbiner method<sup>1</sup> [28, 29]. In particular, we denote the single-trace BG current as  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1,\cdots,n-1)$ , in which the particles of the ordered set  $\{1, 2, ..., n-1\}$  can be either scalar or gluons, and the last particle "n" is always fixed as a scalar and in general off-shell:  $k_n^2 \neq 0$ . For simplicity, the color order involving only all scalars is chosen as an ordered subset of the ordered set  $\{1, 2, ..., n-1\}$  and we will always omit this color order in our notation when considering the single-trace case. For example, for a color order involving all particles  $\{1, 2, 3_g, 4_g, 5\}$ , the scalar color order is  $\{1, 2, 5\}$ .

The  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1, \dots, n-1)$  has the following expression

$$J_{\rm YMS}(1,\cdots,n-1) = \sum_{i=1}^{6} T_i,$$
(2.9)

and each  $T_i$  (i = 1, ...6) in above equation is given by

$$T_{1} = \frac{1}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=2}^{n} 2\left(J_{\text{YMS}}(1,\cdots,i-1) \cdot J_{\text{YMS}}(i,\cdots,n-1)\right),$$

$$T_{2} = \frac{1}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=2}^{n} J_{\text{YMS}}(1,\cdots,i-1) \left[J_{\text{YM}}(i,\cdots,n-1) \cdot \left(-2k_{1,i-1}-k_{i,n-1}\right)\right],$$

$$T_{3} = \frac{1}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=2}^{n} \left[J_{\text{YM}}(1,\cdots,i-1) \cdot \left(2k_{i,n-1}+k_{1,i-1}\right)\right] J_{\text{YMS}}(i,\cdots,n-1),$$

$$T_{4} = \frac{1}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{1 < j < i < n} 2\left[J_{\text{YM}}(1,\cdots,i-1) \cdot J_{\text{YM}}(j,\cdots,n-1)\right] J_{\text{YMS}}(i,\cdots,j-1),$$

$$T_{5} = -\frac{1}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{1 < j < i < n} J_{\text{YMS}}(1,\cdots,i-1) \left[J_{\text{YM}}(i,\cdots,j-1) \cdot J_{\text{YM}}(j,\cdots,n-1)\right],$$

$$T_{6} = -\frac{1}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{1 < j < i < n} \left[J_{\text{YM}}(1,\cdots,i-1) \cdot J_{\text{YM}}(i,\cdots,j-1)\right] J_{\text{YMS}}(j,\cdots,n-1).$$
(2.10)

#### 2.3 Graphic rules in YMS theory

Here we briefly review a graphic approach to calculating YMS amplitudes, which is based on the recursive expansion of EYM amplitudes. The EYM amplitude can be decomposed into a basis of EYM amplitudes with fewer gravitons and finally could be expressed by a summation of pure YM amplitudes. The expansion coefficients are polynomial functions of polarizations and momentum, i.e.  $(\epsilon_i \cdot \epsilon_j)$ ,  $(\epsilon_i \cdot k_j)$  and  $(k_i \cdot k_j)$ . If the three types of elements are drawn by arrows and nodes (as shown in Fig. 1 (a1)-(a3)), the expansion coefficients as well as the permutation of YM amplitudes can be described by graphs. Similarly, the YMS amplitudes  $A(\mathbf{1}|\mathbf{2}| \dots |\mathbf{m}; \mathbf{G}||\boldsymbol{\gamma})$  also have such expansion properties. From now on we always choose  $\boldsymbol{\gamma} = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  without loss of generality and ignore this label.

An arbitrary tree level YMS amplitude  $A(\mathbf{1}|\mathbf{2}|...|\mathbf{m}; \mathbf{G})$  with the gluons set  $\mathbf{G}$  and the scalar traces  $\mathbf{1} = \{1, 2, ..., r, n\}, \mathbf{2}, ..., \mathbf{m}$  can be generally expressed as a combination of tree-level color-ordered BS amplitudes

$$A_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}|\mathbf{2}|\dots|\mathbf{m};\mathsf{G}) = \sum_{\mathcal{F}} (-)^{\mathcal{F}} \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{F}} \bigg[ \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}\in\mathcal{F}|_{1}\setminus\{1,n\}} A_{\text{YMS}}(1,\boldsymbol{\sigma},n) \bigg],$$
(2.11)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In this paper, we always choose the Feynman gauge for YMS currents.



Figure 1. (a1), (a2) and (a3) correspond to the element  $\epsilon_i \cdot \epsilon_j$ ,  $\epsilon_i \cdot k_j$  and  $k_i \cdot k_j$ , respectively. (a4) denotes two scalar particles *i* and *j* connected through a dashed line. The antisymmetric tensor  $F_i^{\mu\nu} = k_i^{\mu} \epsilon_i^{\nu} - (\mu \leftrightarrow \mu)$  is defined by a vertical line in (b1).

where we have summed over all possible connected tree graphs  $\mathcal{F}$  which are constructed according to the graphic rules [2, 13]. The "n" is fixed as the last point of the first trace **1**.

Fig. 1 (a1)-(a3) are shown to represent three components  $\epsilon_i \cdot \epsilon_j$ ,  $\epsilon_i \cdot k_j$  and  $k_i \cdot k_j$ . The antisymmetric tensor  $F_i^{\mu\nu} = [k_i^{\mu}\epsilon_i^{\nu} - (\mu \leftrightarrow \nu)]$  is drawn by a vertical line in Fig. 1 (b1). The graph that two nodes are connected by a dashed line (in Fig. 1 (a4)) is also introduced to denote the relative positions of scalar particles. The graphic rules in YMS amplitudes are given as follows.

- Step-1 The nodes of the ordered set  $\mathbf{1} = \{1, ..., r, n\}$  are connected with dashed lines. In particular, node "1" and "n" are chosen as two endpoints of this chain <sup>2</sup>. The set  $\mathbb{R} = \{r_1, ..., r_{l+m-1}\}$  is defined with a given reference order:  $r_1 \succ r_2 \succ ... \succ r_{l+m-1}$ , and it can be any permutation of the traces  $\mathbf{2}, ..., \mathbf{m}$  and gluons  $g_1, ..., g_l$ . A root set  $\mathcal{R} = \{1, ..., r\}$  is also defined.
- Step-2 Define a chain with the elements in  $\mathbb{R}$ :  $r_{i_1} \to r_{i_2} \cdots \to r_{i_k} \to j$ . The starting point  $r_{i_1}$  of the chain corresponds to the element with the highest priority in  $\mathbb{R}$  (here it refers to  $r_1$ ), while the internal points  $r_{i_2}, ..., r_{i_k}$  could be any other elements in  $\mathbb{R}$ . The chain is attached to an arbitrary node j of the root set  $\mathcal{R}$ . Furthermore, a new set  $\mathbb{R}$  is defined as  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{r_{i_1}, ..., r_{i_k}\}$ , and the elements of this chain have been removed from original  $\mathcal{R}$ . The root set is re-expressed by  $\mathcal{R} \cup \{r_1, r_{i_1}, ..., r_{i_k}\}$ , which is the union of original root set  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\{r_{i_1}, ..., r_{i_k}\}$ . Following the procedure and constructing more chains until the set  $\mathbb{R}$  becomes empty, we finally have constructed a sum of connected graphs with all particles in  $\mathbf{1}, ..., \mathbf{m}$  and  $\mathbf{G}$ .
- Step-3 As shown in Fig. 1 (b2) and (b1), the gluon  $g_i$  represents a polarization vector  $\epsilon_i$  if it appears as the starting point, and a tensor  $F_i^{\mu\nu}$  for internal point of the chains in step-2, respectively. For scalar trace i, we need to search for all possible pair  $(a_i, b_i)$ , for which the trace i has the expression:  $i = \{a_i, \alpha, b_i, \beta\}$ . The trace becomes  $\{a_i, \alpha \sqcup \beta^T, b_i\}$  by shuffling  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , which can be decomposed into a sum of chains with  $a_i$  and  $b_i$  as endpoints. If a trace i appears as the starting point of any chains in step-2 (shown in Fig. 1 (b3)), an arbitrary  $b_i$  is fixed, while all possible  $a_i$  of pair  $(a_i, b_i)$   $(a_i \neq b_i)$  are connected to second point of this chain, contributing a vector  $(-k_{a_i}^{\mu})$  to the graph  $\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{F}}$ . When the trace appears as the internal point of each chain in Fig. 1 (b4),  $b_i$  and  $a_i$  will be connected to left- and right-hand adjacent points of the chain,

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ In fact, arbitrary two nodes can be chosen as the endpoints.

respectively, contributing a term  $(k_{b_i}^{\mu})(-k_{a_i}^{\nu})$  to the graph  $\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{F}}$ . The ending point j of each chain (in Step-2) denotes a vector  $k_j^{\mu}$ .

- Step-4 The permutations  $\boldsymbol{\sigma} \in \mathcal{F}|_1 \setminus \{1, n\}$  associated with the graph  $\mathcal{F}$  in eq. (2.11) are determined through the following two steps: (i). For any two adjacent nodes a and b such that a is closer to gluon 1 than b, the permutation  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$  must satisfy  $\sigma^{-1}(a) < \sigma^{-1}(b)$ , where  $\sigma^{-1}(a)$  and  $\sigma^{-1}(b)$  denote the positions of a and b in  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ , respectively. (Specifically, if the position of a in  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$  is j, then  $a = \sigma_j \equiv \sigma(j)$ , which implies that  $j = \sigma^{-1}(a)$ .) (ii). For two subtree structures attached to the same node, the corresponding permutations are shuffled together while preserving the permutation order within each subtree.
- Step-5 Each trace i contributes a  $(-)^{\mathcal{F}} = (-1)^{|\boldsymbol{\beta}|}$  for given  $a_i$  and  $b_i$ , where  $|\boldsymbol{\beta}|$  is the number of elements in  $\boldsymbol{\beta}$  for each  $\boldsymbol{i} = \{a_i, \boldsymbol{\alpha} \sqcup \boldsymbol{\beta}^T, b_i\}.$

The YMS amplitude (2.11) can be calculated by summing over all possible graphs  $\mathcal{F}$  described by the above rules. For each graph of single-trace YMS amplitudes, only gluon particles appear on the chains (of step-2), of which the graphic rule is much easier than that of pure YM amplitudes [22]. Moreover, since particles in 2, ..., m and G are not connected to "n", we would be able to generalize the graphic rules by letting the last particle "n" off-shell. The current defined by off-shell graphic rules (by letting "n" off-shell) is shown as

$$\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}\left(\mathbf{1}|\mathbf{2}|\dots|\mathbf{m};\mathsf{G}\right) = \sum_{\mathcal{F}} (-)^{\mathcal{F}} \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{F}} \left[\sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}\in\mathcal{F}|_{1}\setminus\{1,n\}} \phi\left(1,\dots,n-1|1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)\right]$$
$$= \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}} N_{\text{YMS}}(1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}) \phi(1,\dots,n-1|1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}), \qquad (2.12)$$

which is called the effective current.

#### 2.4 Unifying relations

There exist some differential operators that can transform the amplitudes of pure YM theory into those of YMS theory, which are determined by on-shell kinematics and gauge invariance [23]. In addition, these operators can also connect gravity, the non-linear sigma model, and so on. Since this work focuses mainly on the unifying relations among the YMS amplitudes (or BG currents) with different numbers of scalar traces, here we will demonstrate the relationship between the YM theory and the YMS theory. For some more studies of these differential operators, see [30–33].

Color-ordered YM amplitudes can be turned into YMS amplitudes through the relation:

$$A_{\rm YMS} = \mathcal{T}[i_1 j_1] \mathcal{T}[i_2 j_2] \cdots \mathcal{T}[i_n j_n] \cdot A_{\rm YM}$$
(2.13)

where  $\mathcal{T}[i_s j_s]$  with (s = 1, ..., n) are differential operators,  $i_s$  and  $j_s$  refer to *i*-th and *j*-th gluon particles in YM amplitudes  $A_{\rm YM}$ , respectively. The equation above is exactly the unifying relation between YM amplitudes and YMS amplitudes. Note that the operator  $\mathcal{T}[i_s j_s]$  is defined as:

$$\mathcal{T}[i_s j_s] \equiv \partial_{\epsilon_{i_s} \epsilon_{j_s}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \left(\epsilon_{i_s} \cdot \epsilon_{j_s}\right)},\tag{2.14}$$

where  $\epsilon_{i_s}$  denotes the polarization vector of the  $i_s$ -th particle. Furthermore, the differential operator is generally shown as  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$ , where  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \{\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_n\}$ , and  $|\alpha| \geq 2$ . The  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  can be expressed as:

$$\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}] = \mathcal{T}_{\alpha_1 \, \alpha_n} \cdot \prod_{i=2}^{n-1} \mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{i-1} \, \alpha_i \, \alpha_n}, \qquad (2.15)$$

in which  $\mathcal{T}_{ij} = \mathcal{T}[ij]$  and  $\mathcal{T}_{ijl} = \partial_{k_i \epsilon_j} - \partial_{k_l \epsilon_j}$ , and  $k_i$  refers to the momentum of the *i*-th particle.

Note that the operators  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  are also referred to as "trace operators", and all the elements contained in  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  (i.e.  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  would be regarded as an arbitrary permutation of these elements) are in the same trace if  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  acts on a certain amplitude. In addition, the operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  is invariant under the cyclic permutations of the trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ . For example, the operator  $\mathcal{T}[123]$  is given by

$$\mathcal{T}[123] = \mathcal{T}_{12}\mathcal{T}_{123} = \partial_{\epsilon_1 \epsilon_2} \left[ \partial_{k_1 \epsilon_2} - \partial_{k_3 \epsilon_2} \right].$$
(2.16)

If the operator acts on four-point YM amplitude  $A_{YM}(1, 2, 3, 4)$ , we immediately have a single-trace YMS amplitude with the scalar trace consisting of 1, 2, and 3:

$$A_{\rm YMS}(1,2,3,4_g) = \mathcal{T}[123] \cdot A_{\rm YM}(1,2,3,4).$$
(2.17)

Finally, it is important to mention that the unifying relations also hold for BG currents under the same gauge, which can be proved by induction directly [29, 34]. The relation will hold on the off-shell level when we choose g = 1 and  $\lambda = 2$  in the YMS Lagrangian (2.8),

$$J_{\rm YMS} = (-)^{\#} \mathcal{T}[i_1 j_1] \, \mathcal{T}[i_2 j_2] \, \cdots \, \mathcal{T}[i_n j_n] \cdot J_{\rm YM} \,.$$
(2.18)

The power of the minus sign can be determined by the concrete form of the differential operators. The relation above will be used in the following discussion.

## 3 The off-shell expansion relation of the single-trace YMS currents

The YM BG current can be decomposed into an effective current (called BG current in BCJ gauge) and another two terms relating to gauge transformation [22], and for more details, a brief review is included in Appendix A.

In this section, we show that the single-trace YMS BG current  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1, \dots, n-1)$  in (2.9) could also be decomposed as follows:

$$J_{\rm YMS}(1,\cdots,n-1) = \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(1,\cdots,n-1) + L_{\rm YMS}(1,\cdots,n-1),$$
(3.1)

where  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1, \ldots, n-1)$  is the effective current in single-trace YMS that can be described by the off-shell graphic rules, while  $L_{\text{YMS}}(1, \ldots, n-1)$  is related to gauge transformation. Note that the particles "1, ..., n-1" can be either gluons or scalars. The  $\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1, \ldots, n-1)$  and  $L_{\text{YMS}}$  are explicitly shown as

$$\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1,\ldots,n-1) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma} \in \text{Perm}(1,\ldots,i_1-1,i_1+1,\ldots,n-1)} N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \,\phi(1,\ldots,n-1|\,i_1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}), \qquad (3.2)$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{\{a_i,b_i\} \in \{1,\dots,n-1\}\\\text{no scalar between } a_i \text{ and } b_i}}^{L_{\text{YMS}}(1,\dots,n-1)} (-1)^{I+1} J_{\text{YMS}}(S_{1,a_1-1}, K_{(a_1,b_1)}, S_{b_1+1,a_2-1}, K_{(a_2,b_2)}, \dots, K_{(a_I,b_I)}, S_{b_I+1,n-1}).$$

$$(3.3)$$

The  $i_1$  in eq. (3.2) denotes the first scalar in  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1, \ldots, n-1)^3$ , and the numerator  $N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma})$  can be characterized by the off-shell graphic rules. The  $S_{1,a_1-1}$  refers to the sequence  $(1, 2, \ldots, a_1-1)$ , while

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In this section, we denote the first and last scalar in the single-trace YMS current  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1, \dots, n-1)$  as  $i_1$  and  $i_2$ , respectively. The reference order of the gluons is chosen as  $\mathbb{R} = \{1, \dots, \} \setminus \mathbf{1}$ .

 $K_{(a_i,b_i)}$  is used to denote  $K_{\text{YM}}(a_i,...,b_i)$  for short. The  $J_{\text{YMS}}(S_{1,a_1-1}, K_{(a_1,b_1)},...,K_{(a_I,b_I)}, S_{b_I+1,n-1})$  stands for the single-trace BG current when  $\{a_i, a_{i+1}, ..., b_i\}$  (i = 1, ..., I) is considered as a single external line with the polarization vector  $K^{\mu}_{(a_i,b_i)} \equiv K^{\mu}_{\text{YM}}(a_i,...,b_i)$  and momentum  $k^{\mu}_{a_i,b_i}$ .

The BG current in YM theory satisfies an identity (A.6-A.7) if the external polarization vector  $\epsilon_i$ (or arbitrary sub-current  $J_{YM}(\mathbf{A})$ ) is replaced by an off-shell momentum  $k_i$  (or  $k_{\mathbf{A}}$ ). The single-trace YMS current has a similar identity with this replacement, and it can be proven following the same way as that in YM theory. Alternatively, the identity in YMS can also be derived from the unifying relations, leading to the natural vanishing of  $L_{YMS}(1, \ldots, n-1)$  under the on-shell limit, which will be discussed Section 6.2.

## 3.1 Decomposition of the single-trace YMS current

Suppose the decomposition (3.1) is satisfied for any single-trace BG current  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1, ..., m)$  if m < n-1. Here we study the decomposition of  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1, ..., n-1)$ .

The  $T_1$  in eq. (2.10) can be decomposed in the form,

$$T_{1} = \frac{2}{s_{1...n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{1}+1}^{i_{2}} \left[ \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1,\cdots,i-1) \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(i,\cdots,n-1) + L_{\text{YMS}}(1,\cdots,i-1) J_{\text{YMS}}(i,\cdots,n-1) + \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1,\cdots,i-1) L_{\text{YMS}}(i,\cdots,n-1) \right].$$
(3.4)

The " $i_1$ " in this case is in the sub-current  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1, \dots, i-1)$  while " $i_2$ " in  $J_{\text{YMS}}(i, \dots, n-1)$ . The  $T_2$  in eq. (2.10) can be rewritten as

$$T_{2} = \frac{1}{s_{1,\dots,n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{2}+1}^{n-1} \left\{ \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1,\dots,i-1) \left[ \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(i,\dots,n-1) \cdot (-2k_{1,i-1}-k_{i,n-1}) \right] + L_{\text{YMS}}(1,\dots,i-1) \left[ J_{\text{YM}}(i,\dots,n-1) \cdot (-2k_{1,i-1}-k_{i,n-1}) \right] + \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1,\dots,i-1) \left[ L_{\text{YM}}(i,\dots,n-1) \cdot (-2k_{1,i-1}-k_{i,n-1}) \right] \right\}, (3.5)$$

where the decomposition (3.1) of lower-point  $J_{\text{YMS}}(1, \dots, i-1)$  has been used. The first term in the braces of above equation can be decomposed further

$$\tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(1,\cdots,i-1) \left[ \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(i,\cdots,n-1) \cdot (-2k_{1,i-1}) \right] 
-\tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(1,\cdots,i-1) \left[ K_{\rm YM}(i,\cdots,n-1) \cdot (-k_{i,n-1}) \right] 
+\tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(1,\cdots,i-1) \left[ \left( L_{\rm YM}(i,\cdots,n-1) + K_{\rm YM}(i,\cdots,n-1) \right) \cdot (-2k_{1,i-1} - k_{i,n-1}) \right] 
+\tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(1,\cdots,i-1) \left[ \left( J_{\rm YM}(i,\cdots,n-1) - L_{\rm YM}(i,\cdots,n-1) \right) \cdot (-k_{i,n-1}) \right],$$
(3.6)

Since  $K_{\rm YM}$  has the expression (A.4), the second line in eq. (3.6) is equivalent to

$$\tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(1,\cdots,i-1)\sum_{j=i+1}^{n-1} \left( \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(i,\cdots,j-1) \cdot \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(j,\cdots,n-1) \right).$$
(3.7)

The last two lines in eq. (3.6) and last two terms in the brace of eq. (3.5) will contribute to  $L_{\text{YMS}}(1, \dots, n-1)$ . The  $T_3$  could be decomposed similarly, i.e.

$$T_{3} = \frac{1}{s_{1,\dots,n-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{i_{1}} \left\{ \left[ \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1,\dots,i-1) \cdot (2k_{i,n-1}+k_{1,i-1}) \right] \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(i,\dots,n-1) + \left[ \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1,\dots,i-1) \cdot (2k_{i,n-1}+k_{1,i-1}) \right] L_{\rm YMS}(i,\dots,n-1) + \left[ \left( L_{\rm YM}(1,\dots,i-1) + K_{\rm YM}(1,\dots,i-1) \right) \cdot (2k_{i,n-1}+k_{1,i-1}) \right] J_{\rm YMS}(i,\dots,n-1) \right\},$$

$$(3.8)$$

The first term in the brace of eq. (3.8) can be decomposed further

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1,\cdots,i-1)\cdot(2k_{i,n-1}) \end{bmatrix} \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(i,\cdots,n-1) - \begin{bmatrix} K_{\rm YM}(1,\cdots,i-1)\cdot(k_{1,i-1}) \end{bmatrix} \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(i,\cdots,n-1) + \begin{bmatrix} (J_{\rm YM}(1,\cdots,i-1)-L_{\rm YM}(1,\cdots,i-1))\cdot(k_{1,i-1}) \end{bmatrix} \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(i,\cdots,n-1),$$
(3.9)

By using eq. (A.4), the second line of the above equation could be simplified into

$$-\tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(i,\cdots,n-1)\sum_{j=2}^{i-1} \left[\tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1,\cdots,j-1)\cdot\tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(j,\cdots,i-1)\right].$$
(3.10)

The  $T_4$ ,  $T_5$ , and  $T_6$  are related to the four-point vertex and could be decomposed in the following way

$$T_{4} = \frac{1}{s_{1...n-1}} \sum_{1 \le i \le i_{1}, i_{2} < j \le n-1} \left\{ 2 \left[ \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \cdot \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right] \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(i, \cdots, j-1) + 2 \left[ \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \cdot \left( L_{\rm YM}(j, \cdots, n-1) + K_{\rm YM}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right) \right] \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(i, \cdots, j-1) + 2 \left[ \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \cdot J_{\rm YM}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right] L_{\rm YMS}(i, \cdots, j-1) + 2 \left[ \left( L_{\rm YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) + K_{\rm YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \right) \cdot J_{\rm YM}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right] J_{\rm YMS}(i, \cdots, j-1) \right\},$$

$$(3.11)$$

$$T_{5} = -\frac{1}{s_{1...n-1}} \sum_{i_{2} < i < j \le n-1} \left\{ \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1, \cdots, i-1) \left[ \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(i, \cdots, j-1) \cdot \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right] \\ + \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1, \cdots, i-1) \left[ \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(i, \cdots, j-1) \cdot \left( L_{\text{YM}}(j, \cdots, n-1) + K_{\text{YM}}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right) \right] \\ + \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1, \cdots, i-1) \left[ \left( L_{\text{YM}}(i, \cdots, j-1) + K_{\text{YM}}(i, \cdots, j-1) \right) \cdot J_{\text{YM}}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right] \\ + L_{\text{YMS}}(1, \cdots, i-1) \left[ J_{\text{YM}}(i, \cdots, j-1) \cdot J_{\text{YM}}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right] \right\},$$
(3.12)

$$T_{6} = -\frac{1}{s_{1...n-1}} \sum_{1 < i < j \le i_{1}} \left\{ \left[ \tilde{J}_{YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \cdot \tilde{J}_{YM}(i, \cdots, j-1) \right] \tilde{J}_{YMS}(j, \cdots, n-1) + \left[ \tilde{J}_{YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \cdot \tilde{J}_{YM}(i, \cdots, j-1) \right] L_{YMS}(j, \cdots, n-1) + \left[ \tilde{J}_{YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \cdot \left( L_{YM}(i, \cdots, j-1) + K_{YM}(i, \cdots, j-1) \right) \right] J_{YMS}(j, \cdots, n-1) + \left[ \left( L_{YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) + K_{YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \right) \cdot J_{YM}(i, \cdots, j-1) \right] J_{YMS}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right\}.$$

$$(3.13)$$

The first term in the braces of eq. (3.12) will cancel with eq. (3.7) while that of eq. (3.13) is equal to eq. (3.10). Finally, by collecting the decomposition of each  $T_i$  (i = 1, ..., 6), the effective YMS current  $\tilde{J}(1, ..., n-1)$  in eq. (3.1) is a sum of  $\tilde{T}_1$ ,  $\tilde{T}_2$ ,  $\tilde{T}_3$  and  $\tilde{T}_4$ 

$$\tilde{J}(1,...,n-1) = \tilde{T}_1 + \tilde{T}_2 + \tilde{T}_3 + \tilde{T}_4, \qquad (3.14)$$

which will be proved later. Note that each  $\tilde{T}_i$  (i = 1, 2, 3, 4) has the explicit expression

$$\tilde{T}_{1} = \frac{2}{s_{1...n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{1}+1}^{i_{2}} \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1, \cdots, i-1) \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(i, \cdots, n-1), \qquad (3.15)$$

$$\tilde{T}_{2} = \frac{1}{s_{1,\dots,n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{2}+1}^{n-1} \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1,\dots,i-1) \left[ \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(i,\dots,n-1) \cdot (-2k_{1,i-1}) \right],$$
(3.16)

$$\tilde{T}_{3} = \frac{1}{s_{1,\dots,n-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{i_{1}} \left[ \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(1,\dots,i-1) \cdot (2k_{i,n-1}) \right] \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(i,\dots,n-1),$$
(3.17)

$$\tilde{T}_{4} = \frac{2}{s_{1...n-1}} \left\{ \sum_{1 \le i \le i_{1}; i_{2} < j \le n-1} \left[ \tilde{J}_{YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \cdot \tilde{J}_{YM}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right] \tilde{J}_{YMS}(i, \cdots, j-1) - \sum_{1 < i < j \le i_{1}} \left[ \tilde{J}_{YM}(1, \cdots, i-1) \cdot \tilde{J}_{YM}(i, \cdots, j-1) \right] \tilde{J}_{YMS}(j, \cdots, n-1) \right\},$$
(3.18)

while the  $L_{\text{YMS}}(1, ..., n-1)$  in eq. (3.1) is given by

$$L_{\rm YMS} \sim V_{3a} \Big[ L_{\rm YMS} (J_{\rm YMS} - L_{\rm YMS}) + J_{\rm YMS} L_{\rm YMS} \Big] + V_{3b} \Big[ L_{\rm YMS} J_{\rm YM} + (J_{\rm YMS} - L_{\rm YMS}) (K_{\rm YM} + L_{\rm YM}) \Big] - V_{3b} \Big[ (J_{\rm YM} - K_{\rm YM} - L_{\rm YM}) L_{\rm YMS} + (K_{\rm YM} + L_{\rm YM}) J_{\rm YMS} \Big] + V_{4a} \Big[ (J_{\rm YM} - K_{\rm YM} - L_{\rm YM}) (J_{\rm YMS} - L_{\rm YMS}) (K_{\rm YM} + L_{\rm YM}) + (J_{\rm YM} - K_{\rm YM} - L_{\rm YM}) L_{\rm YMS} J_{\rm YM} + (K_{\rm YM} + L_{\rm YM}) J_{\rm YMS} J_{\rm YM} \Big] + V_{4b} \Big[ (J_{\rm YMS} - L_{\rm YMS}) (J_{\rm YM} - K_{\rm YM} - L_{\rm YM}) (K_{\rm YM} + L_{\rm YM}) + (J_{\rm YMS} - L_{\rm YMS}) (K_{\rm YM} + L_{\rm YM}) J_{\rm YM} + L_{\rm YMS} J_{\rm YM} J_{\rm YM} \Big] - V_{4b} \Big[ (J_{\rm YM} - K_{\rm YM} - L_{\rm YM}) (J_{\rm YM} - K_{\rm YM} - L_{\rm YM}) L_{\rm YMS} + (J_{\rm YM} - K_{\rm YM} - L_{\rm YM}) (K_{\rm YM} + L_{\rm YM}) J_{\rm YMS} + (K_{\rm YM} + L_{\rm YM}) J_{\rm YM} J_{\rm YMS} \Big],$$
(3.19)

Here the vertex factors like  $V_{3a}$  and  $V_{4b}$  can be obtained directly by summing over the off-shell terms in  $T_i$ . For simplicity, we have omitted the Lorentz indices and the concrete expressions of these factors. A compact form of the off-shell terms can be given by

$$L_{\rm YMS} \sim J_{\rm YMS} \left( S_{1,a_1-1}, K_{(a_1,b_1)}, S_{b_1+1,a_2-1}, K_{(a_2,b_2)}, \dots, K_{(a_I,b_I)}, S_{b_I+1,n-1} \right).$$
(3.20)

## 3.2 Proof of eq. (3.14)

Here we show that the r.h.s. of eq. (3.14) is exactly equivalent to the effective current (3.2). Before proving this, we may introduce two useful relations for  $N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma})$  in eq. (3.2). The relations between off-shell numerators constructed by graphic rules in YM theory ([22]) also hold in that of single-trace YMS amplitudes.

**Relation-1:** Given a  $\boldsymbol{\sigma} = (\boldsymbol{\sigma}_L, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_R)$ , if  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_L \in \text{Perm}(1, ..., i_1 - 1, i_1 + 1, ..., i - 1)$  (with  $1 \leq i_1 < i$ ) and  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R \in \text{Perm}(i, ..., n-1)$  (with  $i \leq i_2 < n$ ), the coefficient  $N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_R)$  is equal to the multiplication of two sub-coefficients, i.e.

$$N_{\rm YMS}\left(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_R\right) = N_{\rm YMS}\left(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L\right) N_{\rm YMS}\left(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R\right), \qquad (3.21)$$

**Relation-2:** If  $\sigma_L \in \text{Perm}(1, ..., i_1 - 1, i_1 + 1, ..., i - 1)$  (with  $1 \le i_1 \le i_2 < n$ ) and  $\sigma_R \in \text{Perm}(i, ..., n - 1)$ ), where i, ..., n - 1 denote the gluon particles. Thus  $N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \sigma_L, \sigma_R)$  can be decomposed into the structure

$$N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) = N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L) \left[ N_{\text{YM}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) \cdot k_{1,i-1} \right], \qquad (3.22)$$

The coefficient  $N_{\text{YM}}^{\rho}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R)$  is called type-A numerator in pure YM [22], and it will turn to BCJ numerator under the on-shell limit. The two equations above can be proved in the same way as eq. (A.8), which has been shown in [22].

This r.h.s. of the above equation is obviously satisfied with graphic rules of the coefficient  $N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma})$ .

Suppose eq. (3.2) holds for the lower-point  $\tilde{J}(1, ..., m)$  (with m < n - 1), we would try to expand eqs. (3.15-3.17) for the first step.

**Expanding**  $\tilde{T}_1$  The  $\tilde{T}_1$  can be decomposed into the following structure

$$\tilde{T}_{1} = \frac{2}{s_{1...n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{1}+1}^{i_{2}} \left( \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}} N_{\text{YMS}}(i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \phi(1,...,i-1|i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \right) \left( \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}} N_{\text{YMS}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \phi(i,...,n-1|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \right) \\
= \frac{2}{s_{1...n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{1}+1}^{i_{2}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}} \left[ N_{\text{YMS}}(i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) N_{\text{YMS}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \right] \phi(1,...,i-1|i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \phi(i,...,n-1|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \\
= \frac{2}{s_{1...n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{1}+1}^{i_{2}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}} N_{\text{YMS}}(i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \phi(1,...,i-1|i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \phi(i,...,n-1|\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}),$$
(3.23)

of which we have used eq. (3.2) in the first equality, while The second equality is maintained due to the relation (3.21).

**Expanding**  $\tilde{T}_2$  Since eq. (3.16) contains the effective currents both in YM and YMS,  $T_2$  can be expanded as follows

$$\begin{split} \tilde{T}_{2} &= \frac{1}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{2}+1}^{n-1} \left[ \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}} N_{\text{YMS}}(i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \phi(1,...,i-1 \mid i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \right] \left[ \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}} (N_{\text{YM}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \cdot 2k_{1,i-1}) \phi(i,...,n-1 \mid \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \right] \\ &= \frac{2}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{2}+1}^{n-1} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}} \left[ N_{\text{YMS}}(i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) (N_{\text{YM}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \cdot k_{1,i-1}) \phi(1,...,i-1 \mid i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \phi(i,...,n-1 \mid \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \right] \\ &= \frac{2}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=i_{2}+1}^{n-1} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}} \left[ N_{\text{YMS}}(i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \phi(1,...,i-1 \mid i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \phi(i,...,n-1 \mid \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \right]. \end{split}$$

$$(3.24)$$

where eq. (3.2) and eq. (A.3) have been used above. The second equality in (3.24) is due to the relation (3.22).

**Expanding**  $\tilde{T}_3$  When  $\{i_1, \sigma_L\} \in \text{Perm}(i, ..., n-1)$  and  $\sigma_R \in \text{Perm}(1, ..., i-1)$  (which implies that the particles "1, ..., i-1" are gluons), eq. (3.16) can be decomposed further

$$\tilde{T}_{3} = \frac{1}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{i_{1}} \left[ \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}} \left( N_{\text{YM}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \cdot 2k_{i,n-1} \right) \phi(1,...,i-1 | \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \right] \left[ \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}} N_{\text{YMS}}(i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \phi(i,...,n-1 | i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \right] \\
= \frac{2}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{i_{1}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}} \left[ N_{\text{YMS}}(i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \left( N_{\text{YM}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \cdot k_{i,n-1} \right) \phi(1,...,i-1 | \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R}) \phi(i,...,n-1 | i_{1},\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L}) \right] \\
= \tilde{T}_{3a} - \tilde{T}_{3b},$$
(3.25)

where

$$\tilde{T}_{3a} = \frac{2}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{i_1} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_L} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R} \left[ N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) \ \phi(1, ..., i-1 | \boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) \ \phi(i, ..., n-1 | i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L) \right], \quad (3.26)$$

$$\tilde{T}_{3b} = \frac{2}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{i_1} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_L} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R} \left( k_{j_1} \cdot k_{j_2} \right) \left[ \left( N_{\text{YMS}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) \cdot N_{\text{YM}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L_1}) \right) N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L_2}) \right. \\ \left. \times \phi(1, ..., i-1 | \boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) \ \phi(i, ..., n-1 | i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L) \right]. \quad (3.27)$$

The  $\tilde{T}_{3a}$  is expressed by the (n-1)-point  $N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma})$ . The expression of  $\tilde{T}_{3b}$  is similar to YM case (see [12, 22]). It can be simplified further by the off-shell graph-based BCJ relation [35], i.e.

$$\tilde{T}_{3b} = \frac{2}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{i_1} \sum_{j=i} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_L} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R} \Big[ \left( N_{\text{YMS}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) \cdot N_{\text{YM}}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L_1}) \right) N_{\text{YMS}}(i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L_2}) \Big] \phi(1, ..., i-1 | \boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) \\
\times \Big[ \phi(i, ..., j-1 | i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L_1}) \phi(j, ..., n-1 | \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L_2}) - \left((i_1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L_1}) \leftrightarrow \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L_2}\right) \Big] \\
= \frac{2}{s_{1,...,n-1}} \sum_{i=1}^{i_1} \Big[ \left( \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(1, ..., i-1) \cdot \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(i, ..., j-1) \right) \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(j, ..., n-1) \\
- \left( \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(1, ..., i-1) \cdot \tilde{J}_{\text{YM}}(j, ..., n-1) \right) \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(i, ..., j-1) \Big], \quad (3.28)$$

which will cancel with  $\tilde{T}_4$ . The summation over eq. (3.23), (3.24) and (3.26) are exactly equal to eq. (3.2).

## 4 The off-shell Expansion of double-trace BG currents

In this section, we will study the off-shell expansion of double-trace YMS BG currents with unifying relations. We will show the specific expression of the expansion in a double-trace case.

## 5 The expansion of BG currents in the YMS theory

Instead of expanding the multi-trace YMS currents directly, we will show the expansion of these currents through unifying relations in this section.

In this section, we will study the off-shell expansion of arbitrary trace YMS BG currents, and show the explicit structure of the expansion.

#### 5.1 Unifying relations for YMS effective currents

Here we will obtain multi-trace YMS effective currents from the single-trace ones (3.2) through the unifying relations. Furthermore, we will also demonstrate how to obtain the graphic rules of multi-trace YMS currents from the single-trace graphic rules.

#### 5.1.1 Double trace

Here we will prove that a double-trace current described by graphic rules can be obtained if a differential operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  acts on the single-trace effective current  $\tilde{J}(1, ..., n-1; \mathsf{G})$ , where  $\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_m$  is the second trace generated by  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$ . If the double trace current is denoted by  $\tilde{J}(\mathbf{1}|\boldsymbol{\alpha}; \mathsf{G})$ , we have the relation

$$\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}|\boldsymbol{\alpha}; \mathsf{G} \setminus \boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}] \, \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}; \mathsf{G}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}} \left[ \mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}] \, N_{\text{YMS}}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}) \right] \, \phi(1, ..., n - 1|1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}), \quad (5.1)$$

where eq. (3.2) has been used. Note that the  $G \setminus \alpha$  means the gluons at  $\alpha$  turned into a scalar trace.

To show this, we need to consider two parts: the coefficient  $\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{F}}$  and the permutation set  $\sigma^{\mathcal{F}}$ . We will prove this by induction on the number of particles in the second trace.

**Two-point differential operator**  $\mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2]$  Let's first consider the two-point differential operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  with  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$ , acting on the effective current (3.2)

$$\mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2] \, \tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(1, ..., n-1) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}} \left[ \mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2] \, N_{\text{YMS}}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}) \right] \, \phi(1, ..., n-1|1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}), \tag{5.2}$$

The differential operator  $\mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2]$  is equivalent to removing the term  $\epsilon_{\alpha_1} \cdot \epsilon_{\alpha_2}$  in each numerator  $N_{\text{YMS}}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}})$ . The numerator  $N_{\text{YMS}}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}})$  of a given graph  $\mathcal{F}$  will be nonzero when acted by  $\mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2]$  only if  $\mathcal{F}$  contains one of the three subgraphs Fig. 2 (a1) (a2) and (a3) (without loss of generality, here the reference order is chosen as  $\alpha_1 \prec \alpha_2$ ). The  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  are internal gluons of a chain in graph (a1), (a2), while in (a3),  $\alpha_1$  is an internal node adjacent to the starting point  $\alpha_2$  of a chain. The graphs Fig. 2 (a1), (a2) and (a3) will be changed into (b1) (b2) and (b3) through  $\mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2]$ . The  $F_{\alpha_1}^{\mu\nu} F_{\alpha_2}^{\nu\rho}$  in (a1) becomes  $(-2k_{\alpha_1})^{\mu}(2k_{\alpha_2})^{\rho}$  in (b1), corresponding to  $(a_2, b_2) = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$  in Fig. 1 (b4). Similarly, Fig. 2 (b2) and (b3) correspond to  $(a_2, b_2) = (\alpha_2, \alpha_1)$  of Fig. 1 (b4) and  $(a_2, b_2) = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$  in Fig. 1 (b3), respectively, implying that  $\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$  play as an scalar trace. In addition, the chains or subgraphs of a given  $\mathcal{F}$  attached to Fig. 2 (a1), (a2) and (a3) are independent of the transformation  $\mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2]$ , for which the numerators and permutations relating to these chains will not change.



Figure 2. The numerators  $N(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}})$  including the sub-graphs (a1), (a2) and (a3) will be non-vanishing through differential operator  $\mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2]$ . Both  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  are internal nodes in graphs (a1) and (a2), while in (a3),  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  refer to the internal and starting node of a chain. The graphs (a1), (a2) and (a3) will become (b1), (b2) and (b3) through  $\mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2]$ .

Finally, the term  $[\mathcal{T}[\alpha_1, \alpha_2] N_{\text{YMS}}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}})]$  in eq. (5.2) will be a numerator of a graph with scalar trace **1** and  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$  only if  $\mathcal{F}$  contains any subgraphs Fig. 2 (a1), (a2) and (a3). The summation over all graphs  $\mathcal{F}$  in eq. (5.2) is equivalent to that over graphs with scalar trace **1** and  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$ , which is exactly equal to the graphic expression of  $\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}|\boldsymbol{\alpha}; \mathbf{G} \setminus \boldsymbol{\alpha})$ .

Arbitrary-point differential operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  We first assume that for any  $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}| < m$ , the double trace effective current can be obtained by acting the differential operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  on the single-trace effective current  $\tilde{J}(1, ..., n - 1)$ . Now Let's consider the operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  when  $|\boldsymbol{\alpha}| = m$ , with  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \{\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_{m-1}, \alpha_m\}$ . According to the definition, the operator can be expressed by

$$\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}] = \mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}']\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1} = \mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}'],$$
(5.3)

where  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}' = \boldsymbol{\alpha} \setminus \{\alpha_m\}$  and  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1} = (\partial_{k_{\alpha_{m-1}}\epsilon_{\alpha_m}} - \partial_{k_{\alpha_1}\epsilon_{\alpha_m}})$ ,  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$  is cyclically invariant. Based on the assumption, the double trace effective current  $\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}|\boldsymbol{\alpha}'; \mathbf{G} \setminus \boldsymbol{\alpha}')$  with trace  $\mathbf{1}$  and  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}'$  can be obtained by acting the differential operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}']$  on the single-trace effective current  $\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}|\boldsymbol{\alpha}; \mathbf{G} \setminus \boldsymbol{\alpha})$  is equivalent to Here we only need to prove that the double trace effective current  $\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}|\boldsymbol{\alpha}; \mathbf{G} \setminus \boldsymbol{\alpha})$  is equivalent to  $\mathcal{T}_{m-1,m,1} \tilde{J}(\mathbf{1}|\boldsymbol{\alpha}'; \mathbf{G} \setminus \boldsymbol{\alpha}')$ , where

$$\tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(\mathbf{1}|\boldsymbol{\alpha}';\mathsf{G}\setminus\boldsymbol{\alpha}') = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}} N_{\rm YMS}(1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}) \,\phi(1,...,n-1|1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}).$$
(5.4)

Note that when  $N_{\text{YMS}}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}})$  is acted by  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ , it will be nonzero only if the graph  $\mathcal{F}$  contains these subgraphs shown in Fig. 3 (a1)-(a5). The trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}'$  is in the internal positions in Fig. 3 (a1)-(a3), while starting positions in Fig. 3(a4)-(a5). The particle  $\alpha_m$  is adjacent to  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}'$  of the same chain in (a1), (a2) and (a4), while in (a3) and (a5), a chain containing  $\alpha_m$  are attached to the trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}'$  at  $c_2 \in \{\alpha_1, \alpha_{m-1}\}$ . Particularly,  $c_2$  is adjacent to  $\alpha_m$ . The five subgraphs (a1)-(a5) will turn to Fig. 3 (b1)-(b5) under  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ . The graphs (b1)-(b5) are discussed as follows:

• Fig. 3 (a1) becomes (b1) through  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ . The arrows in (b1) stands for the tenor  $-(2k_{\alpha_m}^{\mu})(2k_{b_2}^{\rho})$ . The  $a_2$  in (a1) and (b1) can only take  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_{m-1}$  due to the expression of  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ . When  $(a_2, b_2) = (\alpha_1, \alpha_i)$ , where i = 2, ..., m - 1, the trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}'$  is given by  $\{\alpha_1, \{\alpha_2, ..., \alpha_{i-1}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-1}\}^T, \alpha_i\}$  accompanied with a factor  $(-1)^{m-i-1}$ , thus the permutations of graph (b1) has the form

$$(-1)(-1)^{m-i-1}\{\alpha_m, \alpha_1, \{\alpha_2, ..., \alpha_{i-1}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-1}\}^T, \alpha_i\}.$$
(5.5)



Figure 3. The numerators  $N(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}})$  including the sub-graphs (a1), (a2) and (a3) will be non-vanishing through differential operator  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ . The three graphs will become (b1), (b2) and (b3). The same thing happens for the starting trace case ((a4),(a5) to (b4), (b5)).

The first "-" sign above comes from the operator  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{\alpha_{m-1}},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ . When  $(a_2, b_2) = (\alpha_{m-1}, \alpha_i)$ , where i = 1, 2, ..., m-2, the trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}'$  is shown as  $\{\alpha_{m-1}, \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_{i-1}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-2}\}^T, \alpha_i\}$ accompanied with a factor  $(-1)^{m-i-1}$ , and the permutation of graph (b2) takes the expression

$$(-1)^{m-i} \{\alpha_m, \alpha_{m-1}, \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_{i-1}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-2}\}^T, \alpha_i\}.$$
(5.6)

The sum of above two equations is equal to  $(-1)^{m-i} \{\alpha_m, \{\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_{i-1}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-1}\}^T, \alpha_i\}$ , which is exactly the graphic expression of scalar trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ , with  $\alpha_m$  and  $\alpha_i$  as leftmost and rightmost endpoints (comparing with graphic rules in Section 2.3).

• Fig. 3 (a2) becomes (b2) through  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ . The arrows in (b2) refers to the tenor  $-(2k_{a_2}^{\mu})(2k_{\alpha_m}^{\rho})$ . The  $b_2$  in (a2) and (b2) can only take  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_{m-1}$ . When  $(a_2, b_2) = (\alpha_i, \alpha_1)$ , where i = 2, ..., m-1, the permutations of graph (b1) has the form

$$(-1)(-1)^{i-2}\{\alpha_i, \{\alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-1}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_2, ..., \alpha_{i-1}\}^T, \alpha_1, \alpha_m\},$$
(5.7)

and if  $(a_2, b_2) = (\alpha_i, \alpha_{m-1})$ , where i = 1, 2, ..., m - 2, the permutations of graph (b1) can be

$$(-1)^{i-1}\{\alpha_i, \{\alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-2}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_{i-1}\}^T, \alpha_{m-1}, \alpha_m\}.$$
(5.8)

the sum of above two equations is equal to  $(-1)^{i-1} \{ \alpha_i, \{ \alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-1} \} \sqcup \{ \alpha_1, ..., \alpha_{i-1} \}^T, \alpha_m \}$ , which is the scalar trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  (of Step-2 of graphic rules in Section 2.3), with  $\alpha_i$  and  $\alpha_m$  as leftmost and rightmost endpoints.

• Fig. 3 (a3) becomes (b3) through  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ . The arrows in (b3) refers to the tenor  $-(2k_{a_2}^{\mu})(2k_{b_2}^{\rho})$ , and the  $c_2$  of this graph can be  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_{m-1}$ . If  $(a_2, b_2) = (\alpha_i, \alpha_j)$  with i < j, the trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}'$  corresponds to the permutation

$$(-1)^{i+m-j} \{ \alpha_i, \{ \alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{j-1} \} \sqcup \{ \alpha_{j+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-1}, \alpha_1, ..., \alpha_{i-1} \}^T, \alpha_j \}.$$
(5.9)

Correspondingly, all possible permutations of graph (b3) for  $c_2 = \alpha_1$  are denoted by

$$(-)(-1)^{i+m-j+1}\{\alpha_i,\{\alpha_{i+1},...,\alpha_{j-1}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_{j+1},...,\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m \sqcup \{\alpha_1,...,\alpha_{i-1}\}\}^T,\alpha_j\}.$$
 (5.10)

If  $c_2 = \alpha_{m-1}$ , the permutation would be

$$(-1)^{i+m-j+1}\{\alpha_i,\{\alpha_{i+1},...,\alpha_{j-1}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_{j+1},...,\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_1,\alpha_m \sqcup \{\alpha_2,...,\alpha_{i-1}\}\}^T,\alpha_j\}.$$
 (5.11)

The difference of above two equations is equal to

$$(-1)^{i+m-j+1}\{\alpha_i, \{\alpha_{i+1}, ..., \alpha_{j-1}\} \sqcup \{\alpha_{j+1}, ..., \alpha_{m-1}, \alpha_m, \alpha_1, \{\alpha_2, ..., \alpha_{i-1}\}\}^T, \alpha_j\},$$
(5.12)

which correspond to the trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  with  $\alpha_i$  and  $\alpha_j$  as two endpoints. The calculation above is also valid when i > j.

- Fig. 3 (a4) becomes (b4) through  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ . The arrows of graph (b4) represents the vector  $-2k^{\mu}_{\alpha_m}$ . The permutations of graph (b4) is same to that of (b1), and it correspond to the trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  with  $\alpha_m$  and a fixed  $b_2$  as both endpoints.
- Fig. 3 (a5) becomes (b5) through  $\mathcal{T}_{\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_m,\alpha_1}$ . The arrows of graph (b5) means a vector  $-2k_{a_2}^{\mu}$ . The permutations of graph (b5) are same to that of (b3), and they correspond to the trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  with  $a_2$  and a fixed  $b_2$  as both endpoints<sup>4</sup>.

The five cases above include all possible permutations of the trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  when it is both in internal and external positions. Besides, the remaining sub-structures of a given graph connected to  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  will not change. It shows that the a double-trace effective current  $\tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(1|\boldsymbol{\alpha}; \mathsf{G} \setminus \boldsymbol{\alpha})$  can be obtained from single-trace ones  $\tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(1, ..., n-1)$  through the operation  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$ .

### 5.1.2 Multi-trace

Since we have proved that the off-shell double trace graphic rules can be derived from single-trace version by operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]$ . This will be naturally extended to *m*-trace YMS graphic rules by using a number of operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{P}_2] \cdots \mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{P}_m]$ , where  $\boldsymbol{P}_i \cap \boldsymbol{P}_j = \emptyset$  for any  $i, j \in \{2, \cdots, m\}$ . The corresponding current  $\tilde{J}(\mathbf{1}|\mathbf{2}|...|\boldsymbol{m}; \mathbf{G})$  is called *m*-trace effective current in YMS,

$$\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}|\mathbf{2}|...|\mathbf{m};\mathsf{G}) = \sum_{\mathcal{F}} \mathcal{T}[\mathbf{P}_2] \cdots \mathcal{T}[\mathbf{P}_m](N_{\text{YMS}}(1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}))\phi(1,..,n-1|1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\mathcal{F}}).$$
(5.13)

#### 5.2 Unifying relations for off-shell terms

Now let us turn to the off-shell terms of the YMS currents. The YMS currents with an off-shell scalar leg can be written as follows

$$J_{\rm YMS} = \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS} + L \tag{5.14}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Here (b4), (b5) only corresponds to the case the  $\alpha_m$  not be the fixed point of the starting trace  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ . If we want  $\alpha_m$  to be the fixed point, we should change to another reference order so that  $\alpha_m$  can connect to  $b_2$  itself and we will obtain the graph that  $\alpha_m$  is the fixed point. In this reference order (a4), (a5) will not appear and we will not obtain (b4), (b5). In other words, the arbitrariness of the fixed point of the starting trace in the new graph is ensured by the arbitrariness of the reference order of the old graph.

where  $J_{\text{YMS}}$  is the BG current,  $\tilde{J}_{\text{YMS}}$  can be given by the graphic rules as before and actually has the same form as the corresponding YMS amplitudes, L is the total off-shell terms and will vanish after taking the on-shell limit. Let k be the number of on-shell scalars and m be the number of scalar traces in the multi-trace current. For the single-trace current, we assume that the scalar set is  $\{1, 2, \dots, r, n\}$ where n is the off-shell scalar without loss of generality. Then we have the following equation where the extra minus signs come from the analysis of the BG currents from the perturbiner method [28, 34]:

$$J_{\text{YMS}}(1,2,\cdots,r|\mathbf{2}|\cdots|\mathbf{m};\mathsf{G}) = (-1)^{n+k-m} \sum_{\mathcal{F}} (-)^{\mathcal{F}} \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{F}} \bigg[ \sum_{\sigma^{\mathcal{F}}} \phi_{\text{BS}}(1,\cdots,n-1|1,\sigma^{\mathcal{F}}) \bigg] + L_{m\text{-trace}}$$
(5.15)

and

$$\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{P}_2]\cdots\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{P}_m]J_{\mathrm{YMS}}(1,\cdots,r,\mathsf{G}) = (-1)^{k-r-m+1}J_{\mathrm{YMS}}(1,\cdots,r|\boldsymbol{2}|\cdots|\mathbf{m},\mathsf{G}).$$
(5.16)

Applying the relation we proved for the expansion coefficient and the single-trace off-shell terms (3.3), we have the following relation:

$$L_{m-\text{trace}} = (-1)^{k-r-m+1} \mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{P}_2] \cdots \mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{P}_m] L_{\text{YMS}} = \sum_{\{a_i, b_i\} \subset \{1, \dots, n-1\}} (-1)^{I+1} J_{\text{YMS}}(1|2| \cdots |\boldsymbol{m}; \tilde{\mathsf{G}}) \quad (5.17)$$

where  $\hat{G}$  is the division of gluons G, and can be defined by

$$\tilde{\mathsf{G}} = \{S'_{1,a_1-1}, K_{(a_1,b_1)}, S'_{b_1+1,a_2-1}, K_{(a_2,b_2)}, ..., K_{(a_I,b_I)}, S'_{b_I+1,n-1}\}.$$
(5.18)

In the above expression,  $S'_{1,a_1-1}$  denotes a set  $\mathbf{G} \cap S_{1,a_1-1}$ . The  $J_{\text{YMS}}(\mathbf{1}|\mathbf{2}|\cdots|\mathbf{m};\tilde{\mathbf{G}})$  refers to the BG current in multi-trace YMS when  $\{a_i, a_{i+1}, \dots, b_i\}$  is considered as a single external line with the polarization vector  $K_{(a_1,b_1)}$ . For example, if  $\mathbf{G} = \{2,4,5\}$ , then  $S' = \{2\}$  and  $\{a_1,b_1\} = \{4,5\}$ . Such expression of the off-shell terms can be obtained from the single-trace expression (3.3) directly. Note that the differential operators we considered will not affect the on-shell limit, which means that taking the on-shell limit before or after acting the differential operators on them will both lead to a zero result for off-shell terms.

The eq. (5.18) comes from the following statement: if we act an operator  $\mathcal{T}[\mathbf{P}]$  on the single-trace off-shell term  $L_{\text{YMS}}$ , then  $\mathbf{P}$  must be i) a subset of the legs replaced by an arbitrary  $K_{\text{YM}}$  in (3.3) or ii) has no intersection with any legs in any  $K_{\text{YM}}$ . The former case i) will change  $K_{\text{YM}}$  to  $K_{\text{YMS}}$ :

$$K_{\rm YMS}^{\rho}(1,2,...,n-1) = \frac{1}{s_{12...n-1}} k_{1,n-1}^{\rho} \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(1,...,i) \cdot \tilde{J}_{\rm YMS}(i+1,...,n-1),$$
(5.19)

Note that here the YMS subcurrents can have both a scalar off-shell leg and a gluon off-shell leg and can also be multi-trace currents<sup>5</sup>. Here we have used the fact that the effective current  $\tilde{J}_{YMS}$  can be obtained by acting differential operators on  $\tilde{J}_{YM}$ , which will be demonstrated in the next section. The latter case ii) is just the unifying relation that changes the gluon legs to the scalar legs in the same trace. Other cases will not contribute through the following argument. Assuming that the first element of  $\boldsymbol{P} = \{P_i\}$  that intersects with a certain  $K_{\text{YMS}}$  is  $P_l$ , then from cyclic invariant of the operator  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{P}]$ , we can always write  $\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{P}]$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{T}[\mathbf{P}] = \mathcal{T}[P_l, \cdots, P_{l-1}] \propto \partial_{\epsilon_{P_l} \epsilon_{P_{l-1}}}$$
(5.20)

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$ Although we do not consider the YMS currents with an off-shell gluon leg in this paper, the decomposition of the currents (currents as a sum of off-shell terms and effective terms which have the same expansion formalism as the amplitudes) and the unifying relations still hold in this case.

However, as  $P_l$  is the first element of  $\boldsymbol{P}$  intersect with that  $K_{\text{YMS}}$ , there will not exist any  $\epsilon_{P_l} \cdot \epsilon_{P_{l-1}}$ . Therefore this case will not contribute. Roughly speaking, for a given YMS current, every gluon internal line will correspond to some off-shell terms by replacing the subcurrent connecting it with corresponding  $K_{\text{YMS}}$ .

## 6 Further study: from YM to single-trace YMS

The unifying relation also connects the YM theory and the YMS theory, and the relation is also valid off-shell. However, unlike the YMS case, we find that we cannot emergent the whole YMS graphic rules from the YM graphic rules using differential operators. Nevertheless, we still figure out some useful relations by choosing some special reference orders in the YM graphic rules. In this section, we will show how to relate the off-shell terms between the YM currents and the single-trace YMS currents and give a typical example.

## 6.1 From YM expansion to single-trace YMS expansion: special reference orders

Even though we have not figured out how to emergent the whole single-trace YMS graphic rules from the YM graphic rules, we can choose some special reference orders when we draw graphs so that one can obtain the single-trace YMS expansion coefficients from the YM expansion coefficients using differential operators just for this special reference order. Without loss of generality, we will demonstrate how to obtain the single-trace YMS expansion for a scalar trace  $\{1, 2, 3, ..., s\}$ . Firstly, the reference order should be chosen specially so that the first and the last element of reference order is 1 and s respectively. Then consider the case the s = 2, the root of the YM graphs can only be  $\{1, 2\}$  and will give the correct contribution after acting  $\mathcal{T}[12]$ . Then we use the method in section 5, consider

$$\mathcal{T}[1,...,\alpha,\beta,s] = \mathcal{T}[1,...,\alpha,s](\partial_{k_{\alpha}\epsilon_{\beta}} - \partial_{k_{s}\epsilon_{\beta}}), \tag{6.1}$$

we can prove our statement by induction. Therefore, the single-trace YMS expansion coefficients from the graphic rules for a scalar trace  $\{1, 2, 3, ..., s\}$  can be obtained by acting  $\mathcal{T}[1, 2, 3, ..., s]$  on the YM expansion coefficients from the graphic rules.

Note that this proof is only valid for the reference order  $\mathbb{R} = \{1, ..., s\}$  and the particle order in ... is not important. If s is not the last element of the reference order, this proof is not valid. As the expansion coefficients do not depend on the reference order, we exactly obtain the YMS expansion coefficients from the YM ones using differential operators. However, how to emergent the whole graphic rules from the differential operators is still unknown.

#### 6.2 From YM off-shell terms to single-trace YMS off-shell terms

Recall that the  $K_{\rm YM}^{\rho}$  and  $L_{\rm YM}^{\rho}$  are given in Appendix A:

$$K_{\rm YM}^{\,\rho}\big(1,2,...,n-1\big) = \frac{1}{s_{12...n-1}} \, k_{1,n-1}^{\,\rho} \, \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1,...,i) \cdot \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(i+1,...,n-1), \tag{6.2}$$

$$= \sum_{\{a_i,b_i\} \subset \{1,\dots,n-1\}}^{\rho} (-1)^{I+1} J_{\rm YM}^{\rho} (S_{1,a_1-1}, K_{(a_1,b_1)}, S_{b_1+1,a_2-1}, K_{(a_2,b_2)}, \dots, K_{(a_I,b_I)}, S_{b_I+1,n-1}) (6.3)$$

Note that only the  $L_{\rm YM}$  terms will contribute to the off-shell terms of the single-trace YMS currents through unifying relation (2.18).

The argument for the off-shell terms in this case is similar to before. However, this time we include the off-shell leg n in the operator  $\mathcal{T}[\mathbf{P}_1]$  which means that  $\mathbf{P}_1$  will never be in a certain  $K_{\text{YM}}$ . Assuming that the first element of  $\mathbf{P} = \{P_i\}$  that intersects with a certain  $K_{\text{YM}}$  is  $P_l$ , then

$$\mathcal{T}[\boldsymbol{P}_1] \propto \mathcal{T}_{P_{l-1}P_l n} = (\partial_{k_{l-1}\epsilon_l} - \partial_{k_n\epsilon_l}) \tag{6.4}$$

will annihilate the YM off-shell terms as we explained before. It also comes from the fact that BG currents do not include the off-shell momentum  $k_n$  explicitly. Hence only the case that  $P_1$  does not intersect with any legs in any  $K_{\rm YM}$  contributes to the single-trace YMS off-shell terms. We then have the following equation:

$$= \sum_{\substack{\{a_i,b_i\} \in \{1,\dots,n-1\}\\\text{no scalar between } a_i \text{ and } b_i}}^{L_{\text{YMS}}(1,\dots,n-1)} (-1)^{I+1} J_{\text{YMS}}(S_{1,a_1-1},K_{(a_1,b_1)},S_{b_1+1,a_2-1},K_{(a_2,b_2)},\dots,K_{(a_I,b_I)},S_{b_I+1,n}(b_1))$$

which reproduces the result in section 3.

#### 6.3 Example: two/three-point BG currents

In this subsection, we will demonstrate two typical examples to verify our results about the decomposition of the YMS currents.

#### 6.3.1 Two-point BG current in YMS

The YM BG current  $J_{\rm YM}(12)$  can be rewritten as the sum of  $\tilde{J}^{\rho}_{\rm YM}(12)$  and  $K^{\rho}_{\rm YM}(12)$ , with

$$s_{12}\tilde{J}_{YM}^{\rho}(12) = \left[\epsilon_1 \left(F_2 - \epsilon_2 \cdot 2k_1\right)\right]^{\rho}, \quad s_{12}K_{YM}^{\rho}(12) = \left(\epsilon_1 \cdot \epsilon_2\right)k_{12}^{\rho}, \tag{6.6}$$

The effective current  $J_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(12)$  will become  $J_{\rm YMS}(1, 2_g) = (\epsilon_2 \cdot k_1)\phi(12|12)$  under the operator  $\mathcal{T}[23]$ , while  $K_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(12)$  turns to be 0. In the derivation, we have used the on-shell condition  $\epsilon_i \cdot k_i = k_i^2 = 0$  (i = 1, 2).

#### 6.3.2 Three-point BG current in YMS

As a typical example of our statement, consider the following process

$$J_{\rm YM}(123) \cdot \epsilon_4 \xrightarrow{\mathcal{T}[14]} J_{\rm YMS}(1_s, 2_g, 3_g) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{T}[23]} J_{\rm YMS}(1_s | 2_s, 3_s), \tag{6.7}$$

For the expansion coefficients from YM to single-trace YMS theory, see appendix ??. We will demonstrate that the off-shell terms of the above double-trace current can be obtained from the YM ones. For the 3-pt YM currents  $J^{\rho}_{\rm YM}(123)$ , the off-shell terms (A.4) and (A.5) are

$$K_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1,2,3) = \frac{1}{s_{123}} \Big[ \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1,2) \cdot \epsilon_3 + \epsilon_1 \cdot \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(2,3) \Big] k_{1,3}^{\rho}$$
(6.8)

$$L_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1,2,3) = J_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(K_{\rm YM}(1,2),3) + J^{\rho}(1,K_{\rm YM}(2,3)), \tag{6.9}$$

Then the only term that contributes to the single-trace off-shell terms is

$$J_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1, K_{\rm YM}(2,3)) \tag{6.10}$$

since other terms will not give a  $\epsilon_1 \cdot \epsilon_4$  after contracting with  $\epsilon_4$ . Then the single-trace off-shell terms should be

$$\mathcal{T}[14]J_{\rm YM}(1, K(2,3)) \cdot \epsilon_4 = -\frac{1}{s_{23}s_{123}}(\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3) \left[k_{2,3} \cdot (2k_1 + k_{2,3})\right] = -\frac{\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3}{s_{23}} \tag{6.11}$$

which is exactly the correct answer from direct calculations. The double-trace off-shell term should be

$$-\mathcal{T}[23](-\frac{\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3}{s_{23}}) = \frac{1}{s_{23}} \tag{6.12}$$

A direct calculation shows that

$$s_{123}J_{\rm YMS}(1|2,3) = 1 - 2\frac{k_1 \cdot (k_3 - k_2)}{s_{23}} = -\frac{4k_1 \cdot k_3}{s_{23}} + \frac{s_{123}}{s_{23}} \to L_{\rm YMS} = \frac{1}{s_{23}}$$
(6.13)

which matches with the results from differential operators.

## 7 Conclusions

In this paper, we derived the expansion relations for any-trace YMS currents and wrote down the decomposition of the YMS currents explicitly. We first figured out the expansion relations for the single-trace current using a method similar to [22]. Then we pointed out how to obtain the multi-trace graphic rules by acting some differential operators on the single-trace graphic rules for amplitudes. Such differential operators, known as the unifying relations, are also valid in the off-shell case for the YM and the YMS theory [34]. A YMS current with an off-shell scalar leg can always be decomposed into two parts: a part with the same expression as the corresponding amplitudes and a part that will vanish after taking the on-shell limit which is called "the off-shell terms". Hence we can use such differential operators to obtain the expansion relations for multi-trace from the single-trace ones. Accordingly, we can write down all the off-shell terms in a compact form and find that they come from gluon propagators. Finally, we connected the YM current expansion and the single-trace YMS current so by choosing some special reference orders and reproduced the expression of the off-shell terms for the single-trace YM currents. In conclusion, we found that the graphic rules and the unifying relations allowed us to figure out all terms in the expansion relations explicitly for any-trace YMS currents and such relations can also be generalized to the YM currents case.

There are still some related problems that deserve further study. We list some of them here:

- 1. In this work, we only consider the expansion relations for BG currents which have only one offshell leg. What about the case that all legs are off-shell? This question is equivalent to finding out the expansion relation for the Feynman rules.
- 2. Can we figure out the expansion relations for 1-loop integrands using our method? This question is equivalent to finding out the possible 1-loop BCJ numerator from an off-shell way. A possible way to reach this is by finding out the expansion relation for currents with 2 legs off-shell and then using the sewing procedure [36] to generate a loop. There is also an alternative way to consider the loop effect [37]. Note that there are also some works about the 1-loop BCJ numerator from the on-shell methods [38–40].
- 3. A harder direction is to do the same things on the BG currents for extended gravity [41–43], and then consider the second question above. This question is more meaningful since we are more interested in the gravity theory. Note that the unifying relation is only valid for amplitudes in this case, which means that the method we used in this paper cannot be generalized to the gravity case.

## Acknowledgement

We would like to thank Yi-Jian Du for the valuable discussion. YT is partly supported by the National Key R&D Program of China (NO. 2020YFA0713000). KW is supported by the Helmholtz-OCPC International Postdoctoral Exchange Fellowship Program.

## A Review on the decomposition of BG current in YM

Here we briefly review on some useful results relating to YM BG current in [22]. The YM BG current has the form

$$J_{\rm YM}^{\mu}(1,...,n-1) = \frac{1}{s_{1...n-1}} \Big[ \sum_{i=2}^{n-1} V_3^{\mu\nu\rho} J_{\rm YM,\nu}(1,...,i-1) J_{\rm YM,\rho}(i,...,n-1) \\ + \sum_{1 < i < j < n-1} V_4^{\mu\nu\rho\gamma} J_{\rm YM,\nu}(1,...,i-1) J_{\rm YM,\rho}(i,...,j-1) J_{\rm YM,\gamma}(j,...,n-1) \Big],$$
(A.1)

where  $V_3^{\mu\nu\rho}$  and  $V_4^{\mu\nu\rho\gamma}$  are the three-point and four-point vertex in Yang-Mills field. It has shown in [22] that, the BG current in the Feynman gauge was decomposed as follows

$$J_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1,...,n-1) = \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1,...,n-1) + K_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1,...,n-1) + L_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1,...,n-1).$$
(A.2)

where  $\tilde{J}_{YM}(1, ..., n-1)$  is called the effective current in YM. The  $K_{YM}^{\rho}(1, ..., n-1)$  and  $L_{YM}^{\rho}(1, ..., n-1)$ are related to gauge transformation, which will vanish under the on-shell limit. The effective current is exactly the BG current in BCJ gauge [19], and it can be expressed by a sum of BS currents

$$\tilde{J}_{YM}^{\rho}(1,...,n-1) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}\in\mathcal{P}(2,...,n-1)} N_{YM}^{\rho}(1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}) \,\phi(1,...,n-1|\,1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}), \tag{A.3}$$

in which the coefficients  $N_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma})$  are the off-shell BCJ numerators. Both the permutations  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$  and  $N_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma})$  can be characterized by graphic rules in YM. The  $K_{\rm YM}^{\rho}$  and  $L_{\rm YM}^{\rho}$  are given by

$$K_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1,2,...,n-1) = \frac{1}{s_{12...n-1}} k_{1,n-1}^{\rho} \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(1,...,i) \cdot \tilde{J}_{\rm YM}(i+1,...,n-1), \tag{A.4}$$

$$= \sum_{\{a_i,b_i\} \subset \{1,\dots,n-1\}}^{\rho} (-1)^{I+1} J_{\mathrm{YM}}^{\rho} (S_{1,a_1-1}, K_{(a_1,b_1)}, S_{b_1+1,a_2-1}, K_{(a_2,b_2)}, \dots, K_{(a_I,b_I)}, S_{b_I+1,n-1}) (A.5)$$

where  $S_{1,a_1-1}$  denotes the sequence  $1, 2, ..., a_1 - 1$ , while  $K_{(a_i,b_i)}$  refers to  $K_{YM}(a_i, a_i + 1..., b_i)$ . The  $J_{YM}^{\rho}(S_{1,a_1-1}, K_{(a_1,b_1)}, ..., K_{(a_I,b_I)}, S_{b_I+1,n-1})$  represents the BG current when  $\{a_i, a_{i+1}, ..., b_i\}$  (i = 1, ..., I) is considered as a single external line with the polarization vector  $K_{(a_i,b_i)}^{\mu} \equiv K_{YM}^{\mu}(a_i, ..., b_i)$  and momentum  $k_{a_i,b_i}^{\mu}$ . The currents  $J_{YM}$  in  $L_{YM}$  will vanish under on-shell limit, i.e.

$$k_{1,n-1} \cdot J_{\rm YM}(1,...,a_1-1,k_{a_1,b_1},b_1+1,...,a_2-1,k_{a_2,b_2},...,k_{a_I,b_I},b_I+1,...,n-1) = 0, \quad (A.6)$$
  

$$\epsilon_n \cdot J_{\rm YM}(1,...,a_1-1,k_{a_1,b_1},b_1+1,...,a_2-1,k_{a_2,b_2},...,k_{a_I,b_I},b_I+1,...,n-1) = 0, \quad (A.7)$$

which leads to the vanishing of  $K_{\text{YM}}^{\rho}(1, 2, ..., n-1)$  and  $L_{\text{YM}}^{\rho}(1, 2, ..., n-1)$ .

The graphic rules in YM are a little different from that of single-trace YMS. The dashed line of the scalar trace in step-1 of Section 2.3 is replaced by a chain  $[\epsilon_1 \cdot F_{j_1} \cdots F_{j_s} \cdot \epsilon_n]$ , which is from the root set  $\mathcal{R} = \{1, j_1, j_2, ..., j_s\}$ . The  $j_1, ..., j_s$  are chosen arbitrarily from  $\{2, ..., n-1\}$ . In addition, the reference order is fixed by the set  $\mathbb{R} = \{1, ..., n-1\}$ , and  $\mathbb{R}\setminus\mathcal{R}$  is defined to construct the chain towards  $\mathcal{R}$ . The "1" and "n" are fixed as two endpoints of a given graph, and by letting "n" off-shell, the graphic rules can be naturally generalized into off-shell.

Three types of off-shell numerators, including type-A/B/C numerators, have been introduced. The type-A/B numerators correspond directly to  $N_{\rm YM}^{\rho}(1,\boldsymbol{\sigma})$  in the effective current. Each  $N_{C}^{\rho}$  is a tensor that keeps two endpoints off-shell, while the branches attached satisfy the graphic rules. If  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{L} \in \operatorname{Perm}(2,...,i-1)$  and  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{R} \in \operatorname{Perm}(i,...,n-1)$ , these numerators are connected through the relation

$$N_A^{\rho}(1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}_L,\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) = \left[ N_A(1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}_L) N_C(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) - N_A^{\mu}(1,\boldsymbol{\sigma}_L) \left( N_B(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) \cdot k_{1,i-1} \right) \right]^{\rho}, \tag{A.8}$$

which has been proved in [22]. The relation above can be extended to the YMS case, i.e. i) the relation (3.21) is similar to  $[N_A^{\mu}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L)N_C^{\mu}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L)]^{\rho}$  when the last scalar " $i_2$ " in Section 3 is included in  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R$ , and ii) the relation (3.22) is similar to  $[N_A^{\mu}(1, \boldsymbol{\sigma}_L)(N_B(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R) \cdot k_{1,i-1})]^{\rho}$  if " $i_2$ " is in  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_L$  (in which  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}_R$  refer to pure gluons). Eqs. (3.21-3.22) can be proved in the same way as eq. (A.8), which will not be illustrated in the present work.

## References

- M. Chiodaroli, M. Gunaydin, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, Explicit Formulae for Yang-Mills-Einstein Amplitudes from the Double Copy, JHEP 07 (2017) 002 [1703.00421].
- Y.-J. Du, B. Feng and F. Teng, Expansion of All Multitrace Tree Level EYM Amplitudes, JHEP 12 (2017) 038 [1708.04514].
- [3] Y.-J. Du and F. Teng, BCJ numerators from reduced Pfaffian, JHEP 04 (2017) 033 [1703.05717].
- [4] C.-H. Fu, Y.-J. Du, R. Huang and B. Feng, Expansion of Einstein-Yang-Mills Amplitude, JHEP 09 (2017) 021 [1702.08158].
- [5] F. Teng and B. Feng, Expanding Einstein-Yang-Mills by Yang-Mills in CHY frame, JHEP 05 (2017) 075 [1703.01269].
- [6] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering of Massless Particles in Arbitrary Dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 171601 [1307.2199].
- [7] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering of Massless Particles: Scalars, Gluons and Gravitons, JHEP 07 (2014) 033 [1309.0885].
- [8] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering Equations and Matrices: From Einstein To Yang-Mills, DBI and NLSM, JHEP 07 (2015) 149 [1412.3479].
- [9] S. Stieberger and T.R. Taylor, New relations for Einstein-Yang-Mills amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 913 (2016) 151 [1606.09616].
- [10] D. Nandan, J. Plefka, O. Schlotterer and C. Wen, Einstein-Yang-Mills from pure Yang-Mills amplitudes, JHEP 10 (2016) 070 [1607.05701].
- [11] H. Tian, E. Gong, C. Xie and Y.-J. Du, Evaluating EYM amplitudes in four dimensions by refined graphic expansion, JHEP 04 (2021) 150 [2101.02962].
- [12] L. Hou and Y.-J. Du, A graphic approach to gauge invariance induced identity, JHEP 05 (2019) 012 [1811.12653].

- [13] Y.-J. Du and L. Hou, A graphic approach to identities induced from multi-trace Einstein-Yang-Mills amplitudes, JHEP 05 (2020) 008 [1910.04014].
- [14] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, New Relations for Gauge-Theory Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 085011 [0805.3993].
- [15] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, Perturbative Quantum Gravity as a Double Copy of Gauge Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 061602 [1004.0476].
- [16] F.A. Berends and W.T. Giele, Recursive Calculations for Processes with n Gluons, Nucl. Phys. B 306 (1988) 759.
- [17] C. Armstrong, H. Gomez, R. Lipinski Jusinskas, A. Lipstein and J. Mei, New recursion relations for tree-level correlators in anti-de Sitter spacetime, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) L121701 [2209.02709].
- [18] Y.-X. Tao, Celestial Berends-Giele current, JHEP 09 (2023) 193 [2307.14772].
- [19] C.R. Mafra and O. Schlotterer, Berends-Giele recursions and the BCJ duality in superspace and components, JHEP 03 (2016) 097 [1510.08846].
- [20] C.R. Mafra, O. Schlotterer, S. Stieberger and D. Tsimpis, A recursive method for SYM n-point tree amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 126012 [1012.3981].
- [21] C. Huang, Higher-Point Gauge-Theory Couplings of Massive Spin-2 States in 4-Dimensional String Theories, 2401.09781.
- [22] K. Wu and Y.-J. Du, Off-shell extended graphic rule and the expansion of Berends-Giele currents in Yang-Mills theory, JHEP 01 (2022) 162 [2109.14462].
- [23] C. Cheung, C.-H. Shen and C. Wen, Unifying Relations for Scattering Amplitudes, JHEP 02 (2018) 095 [1705.03025].
- [24] C.R. Mafra, Berends-Giele recursion for double-color-ordered amplitudes, JHEP 07 (2016) 080 [1603.09731].
- [25] R. Kleiss and H. Kuijf, Multi Gluon Cross-sections and Five Jet Production at Hadron Colliders, Nucl. Phys. B 312 (1989) 616.
- [26] Y.-J. Du, B. Feng and C.-H. Fu, BCJ Relation of Color Scalar Theory and KLT Relation of Gauge Theory, JHEP 08 (2011) 129 [1105.3503].
- [27] Z. Bern, J.J. Carrasco, M. Chiodaroli, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, The Duality Between Color and Kinematics and its Applications, 1909.01358.
- [28] S. Mizera and B. Skrzypek, Perturbiner Methods for Effective Field Theories and the Double Copy, JHEP 10 (2018) 018 [1809.02096].
- [29] Q. Chen and Y.-X. Tao, Differential operators and unifying relations for 1-loop Feynman integrands from Berends-Giele currents, JHEP 08 (2023) 038 [2301.08043].
- [30] B. Feng, X. Li and K. Zhou, Expansion of Einstein-Yang-Mills theory by differential operators, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 125012 [1904.05997].
- [31] K. Zhou and B. Feng, Note on differential operators, CHY integrands, and unifying relations for amplitudes, JHEP 09 (2018) 160 [1808.06835].
- [32] K. Zhou and G.-J. Zhou, Transmuting off-shell CHY integrals in the double-cover framework, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 1068 [2006.12188].
- [33] K. Zhou, On differential operators and unifying relations for 1-loop Feynman integrands, JHEP 10 (2021) 150 [2108.04025].

- [34] Y.-X. Tao and Q. Chen, A type of unifying relation in (A)dS spacetime, JHEP 02 (2023) 030 [2210.15411].
- [35] Y.-J. Du and K. Wu, Note on graph-based BCJ relation for Berends-Giele currents, JHEP 12 (2022) 080 [2207.02374].
- [36] H. Gomez, R. Lipinski Jusinskas, C. Lopez-Arcos and A. Quintero Velez, One-Loop Off-Shell Amplitudes from Classical Equations of Motion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 081601 [2208.02831].
- [37] K. Lee, Quantum off-shell recursion relation, JHEP 05 (2022) 051 [2202.08133].
- [38] A. Edison, S. He, H. Johansson, O. Schlotterer, F. Teng and Y. Zhang, Perfecting one-loop BCJ numerators in SYM and supergravity, JHEP 02 (2023) 164 [2211.00638].
- [39] J. Dong, Y.-Q. Zhang and Y. Zhang, One-loop BCJ Numerators on Quadratic Propagators from the Worldsheet, 2312.01580.
- [40] C. Xie and Y.-J. Du, Extracting quadratic propagators by refined graphic rule, 2403.03547.
- [41] Y.-X. Tao, Berends-Giele currents for extended gravity, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 125020 [2309.15657].
- [42] K. Cho, K. Kim and K. Lee, The off-shell recursion for gravity and the classical double copy for currents, JHEP 01 (2022) 186 [2109.06392].
- [43] K. Cho, K. Kim and K. Lee, Perturbations of general relativity to all orders and the general n<sup>th</sup> order terms, JHEP 03 (2023) 112 [2209.11424].